
 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting 
 

Hampshire Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-
Committee 
 

Date and Time Tuesday, 12th September, 2023 at 10.00 am 
  
Place Denning Room, EII Court South, Winchester 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
Carolyn Williamson FCPFA 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website and 
available for repeat viewing, it may also be recorded and filmed by the press and 
public. Filming or recording is only permitted in the meeting room whilst the meeting is 
taking place so must stop when the meeting is either adjourned or closed.  Filming is 
not permitted elsewhere in the building at any time. Please see the Filming Protocol 
available on the County Council’s website. 

 
AGENDA 

  
1. APOLOGIES   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 

any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to Part 3 Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members’ Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is 
discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with 
Paragraph 1.6 of the Code.  Furthermore all Members with a Personal 
Interest in a matter being considered at the meeting should consider, 
having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 4 of the Code, whether such interest 
should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 5 of the 
Code, consider whether it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the 
matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance 
with the Code. 

 
 
  

Public Document Pack



3. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   
 
 To appoint a Chairman of the Sub-Committee until its first meeting 

following the County Council AGM in 2024. 
  

4. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN   
 
 To appoint a Vice-Chairman of the Sub-Committee until its first meeting 

following the County Council AGM in 2024. 
  

5. MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 

  
6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make. 

  
7. DEPUTATIONS   
 
 To receive any deputations. 

  
8. SCHEME MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS  (Pages 9 - 14) 
 
 To receive a report from the Director of Corporate Operations updating 

the Sub-Committee on communication to and from scheme members 
since its last meeting. 
  

9. STEWARDSHIP HIGHLIGHT REPORT  (Pages 15 - 40) 
 
 To receive a report from the Director of Corporate Operations providing 

information regarding the Pension Fund’s investment managers’ 
stewardship of the Pension Fund’s assets. 
  

10. SUSTAINABLE INVESTMENTS  (Pages 41 - 50) 
 
 To receive a report from the Director of Corporate Operations confirming 

the Pension Fund’s current sustainable investments in its alternative 
investment portfolios, proposing targets for investment managers to 
increase these allocations. 
 

 
 
 
 
ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 
On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 
 



ABOUT THIS MEETING: 
The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 
wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance. 
 
 
County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses. 

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

AT A MEETING of the Hampshire Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-
Committee of HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL held at the Castle, Winchester 

on Thursday, 2nd March, 2023 
 

Chairman: 
*Councillor M. Kemp-Gee 

 
Vice-Chairman: 

Councillor T. Thacker 
  
Elected members of the Administering Authority (Councillors) 
  *D. Hiscock   R. Mocatta  
  
Employer Representatives (Co-opted members):   
 *Cllr J. Smyth 
  
Scheme Member Representatives (Co-opted members):  
  *Dr C. Allen  
  
Observing 
  *Cllr A Crawford 
 
*present 
  

37.   APOLOGIES  
 
Cllrs Thacker and Mocatta sent their apologies. 
  

38.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must declare 
that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter was discussed, 
save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the 
Code.  Furthermore Members were mindful that where they believed they had a 
Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they 
considered whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 
5, Paragraph 2 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to leave the 
meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak 
in accordance with the Code.  
   

39.   MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-Committee held 
on 30 November were confirmed. 
  

40.   DEPUTATIONS  
 
No deputations were received.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

41.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman had no announcements. 
  

42.   TASKFORCE FOR CLIMATE RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REPORT  
 
The RI Sub-Committee received and noted the report from the Director of 
Corporate Operations (Item 6 in the Minute Book) updating the sub-committee 
on the Pension Fund’s report under the framework of the Taskforce on Climate 
Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD). The Director reminded the sub-committee 
that in September 2022 the Department for Levelling-up, Homes and 
Communities (DLUHC) published a consultation (Governance and reporting of 
Climate Change risks), which proposed to make reporting based on the TCFD 
requirements mandatory for LGPS funds starting for 2023/24 reporting. However 
Hampshire is continuing with its early adoption of TCFD reporting, producing its 
third annual TCFD report. 
  
DLUHC’s requirements confirmed the adoption the original TCFD 
recommendations, which had been previously reflected in Hampshire’s reporting. 
The most significant addition was the requirement to capture total carbon 
emissions and the percentage of investments that are Paris Aligned (with 
strategies to limit temperature rises to no more than +1.5- 2⁰C). The report also 
includes Climate Change scenario analysis of the Fund’s funding position from 
the Pension Fund’s Actuary – Aon, based on three different scenarios. 
  
The Director highlighted to Members that the Pension Fund’s latest carbon 
footprint figures for 2023 show the Pension Fund has achieved a 62% reduction 
since 2020, well below the Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance trajectory. As the 
Fund’s RI consultants MJ Hudson had highlighted was possible, the Fund’s 
carbon footprint rose in 2022 as a result of world’s economies emerging from 
COVID-19 lockdown and the challenging market conditions in 2022 reducing the 
value of low emissions companies, particularly technology companies, and 
increasing the value of higher emitting companies especially energy companies. 
  

43.   SCHEME MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS  
 
The RI Sub-Committee received and noted the report from the Director of 
Corporate Operations (Item 7 in the Minute Book) updating the sub-committee 
on communication from scheme members since the last meeting of the sub-
committee. The Director highlighted to the sub-committee that its terms of 
reference include the action to engage directly and indirectly with scheme 
members and employers to hear representations concerning ESG issues, but 
that no new correspondence had been received since the sub-committee’s last 
meeting.  
  
In his report the Director shared with the sub-committee the Pension Fund’s 
fourth annual RI update for scheme members. The update will be printed and 
included in the paper payslips that are still printed for pensioners and published 
on the Fund’s website for scheme members that log onto the Portal. In line with 
the responses to the RI policy consultation last year, that showed scheme 
members prioritised environmental factors significantly above any of 

Page 6



 

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors, the update focused on the 
Fund’s continued response to Climate Change. 
  

44.   STEWARDSHIP HIGHLIGHT REPORT  
 
The RI Sub-Committee received and noted the report from the Director of 
Corporate Operations (Item 8 in the Minute Book) providing a summary of how 
the Pension Fund’s investment managers have voted on behalf of the Fund for 
the equities that they are invested in and engaged with company management. 
The full details of how votes have been cast for the Pension Fund are published 
on its RI webpage https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-
services/pensions/responsible-investment 
  
The analysis showed that the majority of votes cast against companies’ 
management were for the following reasons: 

         nominees for company directors being not sufficiently independent, 
         remuneration policies where the level of pay was felt to be excessive 
         to improve the empowerment of investors, and 
         the appointment of auditors where the incumbent audit firm has been in 

place too long or the disclosure of non-audit fees to the company was not 
clear.  

  
The Director shared with the sub-committee the Pension Fund’s Annual 
Stewardship Code report, which is required to maintain the Fund’s status as a 
signatory of the Code. The report set out the Fund’s approach to stewardship 
and a number of recent engagement examples provided by the Pension Fund’s 
investment managers. The Pension Fund’s investment managers had been 
challenged to provide engagement examples for the companies identified by MJ 
Hudson as the highest ESG risk, in the recent work that the Pension Fund 
commissioned. 
 
 
 
 
  
 Chairman, 12 September 2023  
 

Page 7

https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-investment
https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-investment


This page is intentionally left blank



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report  
 
Decision Maker: Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-Committee 

Date: 12 September 2023 

Title: Scheme Member Communications 

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations 

Contact name: Andrew Boutflower 

Tel:    0370 779 6896 Email: andrew.boutflower@hants.gov.uk 
 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the sub-committee on communication 
to and from scheme members since its last meeting in March 2023. 

Recommendations 

2. That the sub-committee note the communication from scheme members on 
Responsible Investment (RI). 

Executive Summary  

3. The sub-committee’s terms of reference include the actions: 

• ‘to engage directly and indirectly with scheme members and employers 
to hear representations concerning Environmental, Social or 
Governance (ESG) issues as appropriate’,  

• ‘to report annually on the Pension Fund's Responsible Investment to 
demonstrate progress to the Pension Fund's stakeholders’. 

4. Since the consultation on amendments to the Fund’s RI policy, the results of 
which were reported to the Pension Fund Panel and Board in July 2022, the 
trend of a reduction in scheme member communication on RI has continued. 
Since the sub-committees last meeting a County Councillor (not a member of 
the Pension Fund Panel and Board) received an email from a resident 
advocating that the Pension Fund disinvests from fossil fuels. A response was 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



provided that reiterated the Fund’s RI policy of why it believes it is better to 
remain invested and engaged with fossil fuel companies where investment 
managers have selected them in the Fund’s investment portfolios.  

5. The Assistant Director received an email from a scheme member highlighting 
recent research published by The Carbon Tracker Initiative. The research 
warned that pension funds are risking their investments by under-estimating 
the impact of global warming in scenario analysis commissioned from 
investment consultants and actuaries. 

6. As part of the Taskforce for Climate Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) 
reporting which is proposed to be mandatory for LGPS pension funds, but 
already adopted by Hampshire, scenario analysis of climate risk is required. 
Hampshire’s most recent TCFD report included climate scenario analysis 
from the Pension Fund’s Actuary as part of the 2022 Actuarial Valuation. The 
analysis showed the best long-term outcome for the Pension Fund was an 
orderly transition to a low carbon economy (an implied temperature rise of 
+1.3-2⁰C), with the worst outcome being (no transition (an implied 
temperature rise of +4⁰C by 2100). This is consistent with the Pension Fund’s 
support for the objectives of the Paris Agreement; keeping a global 
temperature rise this century to well below 2⁰C (taken to be 1.5⁰C) and its 
commitment to the aim for its investments to have net-zero greenhouse gas 
emissions by 2050 at the latest. 

Climate Change Impact Assessments  

7. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.  

8. The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises 
that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their 
own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower 
carbon economy. Therefore, the Pension Fund recognises the risk that ESG 
factors, including the impact of climate change, can materially reduce long-
term returns. The Pension Fund has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring 
that its investment managers are suitably considering the impact and 
contribution to climate change in their investment decisions and acting as a 
good steward to encourage these companies to play their part in reducing 
climate change. This is explained further in the Pension Fund’s RI policy 
Responsible Investment | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk). 

Page 10

https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-investment


9. This paper captures the views of scheme members that have been shared 
with the Pension Fund on RI issues, including the risks and impacts of 
Climate Change, so that the sub-committee can consider these views in their 
future decision making. 

 

Page 11



Integral Appendix A 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

no 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

no 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

no 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

no 

 
OR 

 
This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
report because of the ongoing management of the Hampshire Pension Fund. 

 
 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

 
 

Page 12



Integral Appendix B 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 

sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic. 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the 
proposals in this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme 
members. 

 
 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 
Decision Maker: Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-Committee 

Date: 12 September 2023 

Title: Stewardship highlight report 

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations  

Contact name: Andrew Boutflower 

Tel:    0370 779 6597 Email: Andrew.Boutflower@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. This report provides information regarding the Pension Fund’s investment 
managers’ stewardship of the Pension Fund’s assets, their engagement with 
the management of the companies the Pension Fund invests in, including 
how the investment managers have voted on behalf of the Fund during the 
period October 2022 to June 2023.  

Recommendations 

2. That the Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-Committee notes how 
the Pension Fund’s investment managers have voted in the Fund’s portfolios 
and engaged with the management of these companies as highlighted in this 
report. 

Executive Summary  

3. The Pension Fund is a signatory to the UN Principles for Responsible 
Investment and the UK Stewardship Code 2020 and as such recognises its 
role of promoting best practice in stewardship, which is considered to be 
consistent with seeking long term investment returns.  As a Pension Fund 
whose investments are externally managed, much of the day-to-day 
responsibility for implementing stewardship on behalf of the Fund is 
delegated to the Fund’s investment managers, including engagement and 
casting shareholder votes for its equity investments, and the expectations of 
the investment managers are set out in the Fund’s Responsible Investment 
Policy as part of the Investment Strategy Statement. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9



4. The Fund recognises that there are different expectations for its investment 
managers in terms of how they engage with companies, but as a minimum 
all are expected to engage with invested companies on areas of concern 
related to environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues and to also 
exercise voting rights particularly with regard to ESG factors, in a manner 
that will most favourably impact the economic value of the investments.  In 
addition, the Fund’s active investment managers are required to pro-actively 
consider how all relevant factors, including ESG factors, will influence the 
long-term value of each investment.   

5. As investors in common stock (equities), the Pension Fund (via the pooled 
funds it invests in) will have certain rights to vote on how the company it 
invests in is run.  These include being able to vote in elections to the board 
of directors and on proposed operational alterations, such as shifts of 
corporate aims, as well as the right to vote on other matters such as 
renumeration policies and the appointment of auditors.  In addition to these 
items, for which recommendations will be made by company management 
for shareholders to either agree or oppose, individual shareholders can 
propose their own subjects for the shareholders to vote on, but they are non-
binding on the company’s management in most instances. 

6. Shareholder votes are an important tool for company engagement alongside 
more direct communication (such as meetings) with company management. 
Voting provides an ultimate sanction for shareholders to show their 
disapproval with how a company is operating.  

7. How votes are cast by the Pension Fund will be determined by the voting 
policy, which for Hampshire varies depending on how the equity investment 
is held: 

• Equities directly held directly in the ACCESS pool (Acadian’s Low 
Volatility portfolio, Baillie Gifford’s Long-term Global Growth and Global 
Alpha portfolios and Dodge & Cox’s Global Stock Fund portfolio) will be 
voted in accordance with ACCESS’s voting guidelines, which were 
agreed by the ACCESS Joint Committee. 

• Equities in pooled funds of external investment managers (such as 
UBS-AM) will be voted in accordance with the investment manager’s 
voting policy, which applies to all holdings within the fund.   

8. As a result of the Pension Fund’s policy there is a risk that its investment 
managers could cast their votes differently for the same shareholder 
resolution, and examples of these are described in Table 1.  However, the 
Fund believes its current policy remains the best approach as it enables the 
Fund’s investment managers to cast votes in line with the portfolio 
investment strategy that led to holding the stock. 

9. The Pension Fund publishes its investment manager’s voting reports online:  

Page 16



https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-
investment  

10. The explanations provided by investment managers for their voting and 
engagements are provided for Members to evaluate the investment 
managers stewardship and to challenge and follow-up as necessary in future 
interactions with the investment managers. 

Engagement highlights 

11. In order for the Responsible Investment (RI) Sub-Committee to scrutinise the 
engagement activity of the Pension Fund’s investment managers 
engagement examples are shown in Appendix 1. These examples are a 
small sample of overall engagements but in the main are focused on 
investments that the Pension Fund’s consultant – MJ Hudson, highlighted as 
a high ESG risk. Following feedback from Members and the advice of the 
Fund’s consultant the questions to investment managers have been 
structured to focus on the purpose of the engagement and whether or not 
this was successful. 

12. Examples are included across the range of the Pension Fund’s assets 
including equities, credit (multi-asset credit and asset-backed securities) and 
non-listed investments (private equity and infrastructure). Although the 
engagement and relationship with the underlying investment will vary 
depending on the type of investment, it is nonetheless important that 
regardless of type investment managers are utilising their influence on 
investee companies on behalf of the Pension Fund.  

13. Investment managers have to carefully manage their relationships with 
company management therefore there are instances where to preserve an 
effective working relationship, the investment managers cannot publicly 
disclose the full details of their engagement or have asked to anonymise the 
examples they have provided. 

Voting highlights 

14. In order for the RI Sub-Committee to scrutinise the voting activity for the 
Pension Fund’s investments a summary of voting highlights for the period 
January to June 2023, which are contained in Appendix 2.  The highlight 
report does not attempt to quantify the number of votes cast by the Fund’s 
investment managers (which is significant) but focuses on providing 
examples of the types of issues where investment managers have voted 
against company management, resolutions of fellow shareholders, or on 
sensitive or topical issues. 

Page 17

https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-investment
https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-investment


15. The majority of votes cast against company management by the Fund’s 
investment managers cover the following reasons: 

• Nominees for company directors who are not sufficiently independent, 
have too many other outside interests, or who have a history of 
managing the company and ignoring shareholders’ concerns. 

• Remuneration policies where the level of pay is felt to be excessive 
and/or short-term incentives are more valuable than long-term 
incentives and do not provide adequate alignment with shareholders' 
long-term interests. 

• The appointment of auditors where the incumbent audit firm has been 
in place too long or the disclosure of non-audit fees to the company 
were not clear. 

16. In all these instances voting against the company management is in line with 
ACCESS’s policy, which allows for the investment manager to exercise their 
judgement and to not follow the policy if they can provide a suitable rationale 
for doing so. The highlight report shows the sorts of instances where Baillie 
Gifford or Acadian have exercised this discretion and chosen to support the 
company management on some of these issues, where they believe that 
there are compensating governance controls in place.  

17. The review of voting records has highlighted instances where the Pension 
Fund’s investment managers have voted differently on the same point; 
examples of these are in Table 1.   

 
Table 1: Examples of instances where the Pension Fund’s investment managers 
have voted differently 

Company Resolution Investment Manager 1 Investment Manager 2 
Tesla Inc Report on 

water risk 
exposure 

Baillie Gifford - 
AGAINST – We 
opposed the resolution 
requesting a report on 
the company’s water risk 
exposure. The company 
already provides 
detailed exposure and 
has stated its intention to 
continue to increase the 
level of disclosure in the 
future impact reports. 

UBS - FOR – The 
request for additional 
reporting is reasonable 
and would enable 
shareholders to have a 
better understanding of 
the company’s 
approach. 

Pepsico Inc Report on 
impacts of 
restrictive 

Acadian – AGAINST – 
the vote against is 
warranted as on balance 

UBS – FOR – 
Request for additional 
reporting is reasonable. 

Page 18



Table 1: Examples of instances where the Pension Fund’s investment managers 
have voted differently 

Company Resolution Investment Manager 1 Investment Manager 2 
reproductive 
healthcare 
legislation 

the risks stemming from 
issuing the requested 
report appear to be 
greater than the risks to 
the company associated 
with its current 
disclosure and practices 

Pepsico Inc Issue 
Transparency 
report on 
Global Public 
Policy and 
Political 
influence 

Acadian– AGAINST - – 
the vote against is 
warranted as the 
proposal is overly 
prescriptive and the 
company disclosures are 
adequate information for 
shareholders to asses 
the company’s 

UBS – FOR - 
We will not support 
company proposals 
allowing companies to 
make political 
donations and will 
support shareholder 
proposals requiring 
companies to be 
transparent concerning 
such donations. 

 

Climate Change Impact Assessments  

18. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.  

19. The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises 
that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their 
own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower 
carbon economy. Therefore, the Pension Fund recognises the risk that 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors including the impact of 
climate change can materially reduce long-term returns. The Pension Fund 
has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring that its investment managers 
are suitably considering the impact and contribution to climate change in 
their investment decisions and acting as a good steward to encourage these 
companies to play their part in reducing climate change. This is explained 
further in the Pension Fund’s RI policy 
InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf (hants.gov.uk). 

Page 19

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/pensions/InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf


20. This paper addresses how the Pension Fund’s investment managers have 
considered ESG factors including the risk and impact of Climate Change 
have been considered in their stewardship of the Pension Fund’s 
investments.   

Page 20



Integral Appendix A 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

No 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

No 

 
OR 

 
This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because: 
For the ongoing management of the Hampshire Pension Fund. 

 
 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

Page 21



 Integral Appendix B 
 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 

prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set 
out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do 
not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a 

relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 

characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 
- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 

public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the proposals in 
this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme members. 

Page 22



 Appendix 1 
Portfolio Dodge & Cox (global equities) 
Company Suncor 
Investment Rationale Suncor is an integrated oil company operating in the 

Canadian oil sands and offshore Canada/North Sea. 
We invested in Suncor because of our positive 
views on its strong management team, free cash 
flow generative business model, and attractive 
valuation. 

Date of recent engagement 
activity 

June 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Governance, Social – Our conversation focused on 
updates on the new CEO transition, corporate 
layoffs, operating costs and safety concerns at 
Suncor. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

We met with the CFO in our offices and discussed 
the CEO transition plan as well as SU’s new CEO 
qualifications. We spoke about the company’s 
efforts to reduce labour costs and focus on reducing 
its contractor base and recent layoffs. We probed 
into employee sentiment as a result of the layoffs 
and CEO transition and will continue discussions on 
this point. Additionally, we continued our 
conversations with Suncor around safety concerns 
and changes the company has made as a result of 
the external reviews it had commissioned.  

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Yes – we communicated our views to the company 
management and believe they adequately heard our 
voice. 

 
Portfolio Dodge & Cox (global equities) 
Company Occidental Petroleum (OXY) 
Investment Rationale Occidental Petroleum (OXY) is an oil and natural 

gas exploration and production company. We 
invested in OXY because of our positive views on its 
diversified, free cash flow generative upstream 
portfolio, strong operating capabilities, and attractive 
valuation. We also believe OXY’s investments in 
carbon capture, utilization, and storage (CCUS) 
technologies through their Low Carbon Ventures 
(LCV) business could be a source of value in the 
future. 

Date of recent engagement 
activity 

May 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Governance, Environmental – We spoke with the 
company discussing capital allocation and its 
continued investments in its energy transition goals. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

Our Global Industry Analyst met with OXY’s CEO 
and CFO in our offices and we continued having 
conversations with Occidental on its capital 
allocation framework. We spoke about OXY’s debt 
reduction efforts over the last year as well as 
mergers and acquisitions (M&A) trends in the 
industry. 
 Page 23



 Appendix 1 
Additionally, we continued our discussions on OXY’s 
climate strategy. We spoke about carbon credits 
available in the industry and OXY’s current strategy 
to determine how the direct air capture (DAC) 
technology that the company is investing in could be 
beneficial to its business over the long-term. We 
believe that the company’s current climate strategy 
and goals are adequate and think that its governing 
and reporting structure on climate are strong. 

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Yes – we communicated our views to the company 
management and believe they adequately heard our 
voice. 

 
Portfolio Baillie Gifford (global equities) 
Company Multi-national metal and mining company 
Investment Rationale One of the lowest cost global producers of key 

metals providing incredible returns across the cycle, 
and likely to deliver good earnings growth over the 
next decade.   

Date of recent engagement 
activity 

May 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Our aim was to explore the detail behind the 
company’s decarbonisation strategy, focusing on its 
aluminium and iron ore operations, as these account 
for the vast majority of the company's carbon 
footprint. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

Our engagement provided insight into the 
complexity of the challenge and reassurance that 
the company will continue to commit material 
resources to exploring potential solutions as it 
pursues carbon reduction targets. However, the 
pathway to materially lower emissions will require 
several technological breakthroughs that remain 
unproven at commercial scale today. 

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

We consider this a successful engagement.  It is 
part of a long-running and ongoing engagement with 
the company about its approach to 
decarbonisation.  We did not support the company’s 
Climate Action Plan at the 2022 AGM as we felt it 
was insufficiently urgent or ambitious in relation to 
both tackling direct emissions and setting a scope 3 
target.  Our ongoing engagement process is 
therefore focussed on supporting and encouraging 
the company to make progress in this area, noting 
that the scale of the problem (the company's supply 
chain produces c. 600 million tonnes of CO2 each 
year: more than the entirety of the UK) means 
change is likely to be slow. The company views the 
decarbonisation of the steel industry coming in at 
least three phases. The first phase – and the focus 
of their current attention – is the optimisation of blast 
furnaces to reduce emissions. Phase 2 involves the Page 24



 Appendix 1 
roll out of DRI technology using hydrogen – 
technology that is already available today – and 
phase 3 is dependent on the development of new 
technologies such as iron ore electrolysis. We will 
continue to liaise on these topics and push them to 
show greater urgency in achieving, in particular, 
phases 2 & 3. 
 

 
 
Portfolio Acadian (global equities) 
Company Hong-Kong utilities company 
Investment Rationale Strong bottom-up alpha forecast 
Date of recent engagement 
activity 

Q3 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Diversity improvement - we noticed this company 
may be falling behind on their efforts on Diversity, 
Equality and Inclusion (DE&I) which warranted 
further investigation. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

We engaged with this company to better understand 
why female participation in their workforce was low 
and female employees had a higher turnover rate 
than males. We asked them to consider reporting 
management level diversity statistics and to set 
targets to increase diversity across levels. 

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

We believe strong DE&I efforts and practices equate 
to better long-term firm performance. The company 
is yet to provide a satisfactory response and we will 
continue the engagement. 

 
Portfolio Acadian (global equities) 
Company German healthcare company 
Investment Rationale Strong bottom-up alpha forecast 
Date of recent engagement 
activity 

Q2 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Climate action - the company reported scope 1 and 
2 emissions, which were significantly above sector 
peers. We asked the company about their 
decarbonization targets and progress so far, going 
into Science Based Targets (SBTi) as well. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

Milestone 3 - We met with the company’s head of 
Climate Action. The company reduced scope 2 by 
25% in 2022 by developing their efficiency program. 
Electricity from renewables increased to 43% in 
2022. Scope 3 increased slightly, in line with the 
sales growth. The company has committed to SBTi 
aligned with 1.5-degree scenario for their targets. 
They have an absolute target for scope 1 and 2 to 
reduce 50% emissions by 2030 with baseline year 
2020. The company opted for an intensity reduction 
goal for scope 3. The company conducted a climate 
scenario analysis aligned with international 
regulation. 80% of their carbon footprint comes from Page 25



 Appendix 1 
suppliers. To tackle this, they have a supplier 
decarbonization program, to interact directly with 
suppliers and collect data from them. They also 
push suppliers towards using green energy. Since 
the company cannot confirm the accuracy of data, 
they do not drop suppliers based on carbon metrics, 
but they are looking into this.  

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Yes - the company has set a SBTi to achieve 50% 
reduction in operational CO2 emissions by 2030. 
They do not have a net zero target. The company 
seems to have targets in place, but it is still a high 
emitter for the overall portfolio. Thus, Acadian will 
follow up on this engagement if required in the future 
to gauge progress on the targets set by the 
company with SBTi. 

 
 
Portfolio UBS (passive global equities) 
Company European international energy company 
Investment Rationale Index weighted position 
Date of recent engagement 
activity 

March 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Our initial engagement with the company in 2018 
was driven by concerns over carbon emissions 
trends, fossil fuel exposure, weak disclosure levels, 
the absence of climate change policies and targets 
and the general lack of a more forward-looking 
strategic view to climate change risk. We have 
continued to engage with the company to encourage 
strengthening of its strategy since then. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

The company presented its first energy transition 
plan for shareholder vote and strengthened its 
targets to reduce operated scope 1 and 2 emissions 

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

 Yes – We continue to monitor progress and 
continue to press for stronger action to tackle value 
chain emissions 

 
Portfolio UBS (passive global equities) 
Company US multinational energy company 
Investment Rationale Index weighted position 
Date of recent engagement 
activity 

April 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Our engagement with them was on the importance 
of absolute scope 3 targets. The company has had a 
push from its investors that scope 3 is a crucial 
signal of transition risk and the demand for oil and 
gas in a 1.5C trajectory should reduce. The 
discussion also included encouraging the company 
to revise its methane emissions intensity targets 
periodically and consider joining OGMP 2.0.   

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

The company responded with their reasoning and 
we gained information on their position.   

Page 26



 Appendix 1 
  

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Neutral- We continue to monitor progress and 
continue to press for stronger action to tackle their 
methane emissions and oil and gas use   

 
Portfolio Barings (Multi-asset Credit) 
Company Vedanta 
Investment Rationale Vedanta is a diversified, low-cost mining operator 

based mainly in India. The company’s operational 
performance is relatively strong.   
 
Barings’ proprietary Environmental score for the 
company is unchanged (4 out of 5; 5 is the lowest 
score) with an improving outlook. This is based on 
increased public climate-related disclosure sought 
through Climate Action 100+, which includes a net 
zero target by 2050 and progress made towards its 
mid-term target of 25% absolute emissions 
reduction by 2030. So far, Vedanta has been on 
track to deliver its mid-term targets. 

Date of recent engagement 
activity 

June 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

We have been engaging with Vedanta throughout 
the year. The latest engagement was a meeting with 
Vedanta’s management and promoter. We 
challenged the company on its lack of 
communication with investors and last-minute 
approach on its liability management, both are signs 
of weak corporate governance. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

Regarding the governance issue raised, the 
company promised investors that it will improve 
disclosure and communication going forwards. 
Vedanta has expressed great willingness to improve 
its practices and we will continue to monitor the 
company’s action. Will change the Governance 
score outlook to improving if the company shows 
significant progress towards the right direction. 

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Vedanta has improved its disclosure on energy mix 
since our last engagement. They are also on track to 
achieve its mid-term decarbonisation target. We will 
continue to engage with the company on this topic 
and will request disclosure/targets on scope 3 
emission in the next meeting.  
 
The company promised investors that it will improve 
disclosure and communication going forwards. 

 
Portfolio Twenty-four Asset Management (Asset-backed 

securities - ABS) 
Company Lloyds Bank 
Date of recent engagement 
activity 

May 2023 

Page 27



 Appendix 1 
What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

We engaged with Lloyds as part of our Carbon 
Emissions Engagement Policy. The focus of the 
engagement was in regards to the steps they are 
taking to reduce scope 3 emissions and broader 
firmwide environmental policy.  

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

Lloyds provided a lot of information on their targets 
for reduction in financed emissions and reduction in 
the carbon intensity of their residential mortgages. 
They have also set targets for affordable housing 
and diversity in their workforce. During our 
engagement they highlighted that the key 
challenges lie within mortgages and agriculture – 
they only have a limited exposure to fossil fuels. 
Their climate transition plan consists of target setting 
for both the bank financed emissions covering a 
major proportion of their lending (including oil & gas 
and power generation but mostly focussed on the 
motor and residential mortgages division) and the 
emissions financed through Scottish Widows.  
 
Their plan to tackle the residential mortgages 
division consists of (1) educate customers on the 
energy transition and (2) offer green products such 
as cash back products for EPC with A or B upgrades 
and retrofitting products which create incentives for 
borrowers to make energy improvement. 
Additionally, they have a partnered with Octopus 
Energy in which Lloyds provide the financing for 
electric heat pumps and Octopus Energy carries out 
the installation.  

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Yes, this was a very comprehensive response from 
Lloyds. We will continue to monitor ESG 
developments and whether they are meeting their 
targets in terms of carbon emission reduction. 
Importantly, maintain engagement to monitor 
progress on emissions disclosures for ABS deals 
rather than only for each lending division.  

 
Portfolio abrdn (Private Equity) 
Company Dott 
Investment Rationale Co-investment in a European micro-mobility 

company operating over 50,000 shared electric 
scooters and electric bikes in more than 35 cities 

Date of recent engagement 
activity 

June 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

We discussed the viability of refurbishing the 
existing electric vehicle fleet instead of purchasing 
new. It would allow Dott to reduce their carbon 
footprint by 50%. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

Yes. Dott has now started working on increasing the 
fleet life from 3-4 years to over 7 years through their 
refurbishment project. 

Page 28



 Appendix 1 
Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Yes 

 
Portfolio GCM (infrastructure) 
Company Central European gas and power provider 
Investment Rationale The company plays a significant role in the 

transmission, distribution and storage of gas in a 
number of central European countries. 

Date of recent engagement 
activity 

Q1 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

The General Partner (GP) has engaged as part of 
the ongoing management and continuous 
improvement of ESG. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

The company remains committed to carbon 
neutrality by 2040. By 2030, it aims to reduce its 
CO2 emissions from its existing heating plants by 
60% and abandoning coal as a primary energy 
source. A comprehensive GHG-reduction pathway 
will be developed and implemented as a result of the 
work between the GP and the company. In addition, 
the company is currently in the process of 
establishing a Green Finance Framework to position 
itself for a potential refinancing through a green or 
sustainable-linked bond. 

Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Yes the company’s direction of travel and progress 
is strong and will be subject to ongoing quarterly 
monitoring. 

 
Portfolio GCM (infrastructure) 
Company US electricity transmission company 
Investment Rationale The company operates electricity transmission in 

north-east of America with nearly 600,000 
customers. 

Date of recent engagement 
activity 

Q1 2023 

What was the aim of the 
engagement(s) conducted 
over the last year? 

Engagement flows from the company’s materiality 
matrix that assesses ESG risks, weighing the 
sustainability impact against business success. 
Annual and long-term targets provide structure to 
the company’s ESG vision. 

What was the basis of the 
engagement(s) and result, if 
any? 

Since 2021 and the arrival of a new vice-president of 
Corporate Responsibility there has been a notable 
increase in commitment to ESG advancement. This 
has involved updated materiality assessments to 
pinpoint performance gaps and formulate strategies 
to tackle them. Progress includes the extension of 
ESG-related KPIs and enhancements to the 
Supplier Code of Conduct incorporating key ESG 
subjects. In May 2023 the company released its first 
report outlining their corporate responsibility and 
sustainability endeavours, which will be included in 
future reports. 

Page 29



 Appendix 1 
Were the engagement(s) 
successful – if not what is the 
next point of escalation 

Yes and will be monitored quarterly on an ongoing 
basis. 

Page 30



 Appendix 2 

Acadian (global equities) (ACCESS) 
 
Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
Compania 
Distribucion 
Integral 
Logosta 
Holdings SA 

Management – 
Approve renumeration 
policy 

Against A vote against this item is warranted based on the following consideration: the 
board proposes to increase the company contributions for the CEO’s pension 
scheme from 10 percent to 20 percent of salary and paid out bonus “in line with 
the best market practice and for retention purposes”. However, the best market 
practices advocate for reasonable contributions to pension scheme, ideally in 
line with the wider workforce, while the CEO’s current pay package is deemed 
sufficiently competitive. 

Tyson Foods 
inc 

Management – Elect 
Director Barbara A. 
Tyson 

Against Votes against John Tyson and Barbara Tyson are warranted as their ownership 
of the super-voting shares through the Tyson Limited partnership provide them 
with voting power control of the company. 

Kemira Oyg Management – Allow 
shareholder meetings 
to be held by electronic 
means only. 

Against A vote against the proposed article amendments is warranted because the new 
articles provide the possibility for virtual-only shareholder meetings. While there 
are benefits from allowing participation at shareholder meetings via electronic 
means, virtual-only meetings may hinder meaningful exchanges between 
management and shareholders and enable management to avoid 
uncomfortable questions. 

FSE Lifestyle 
services 
Limited 

Management – 
Authorise Reissuance 
of repurchased shares 

Against A vote against these resolutions is warranted for the following – The aggregate 
share issuance is greater than 10 percent of the relevant class of shares. The 
company has not specified the discount limit. 

The Coca-
Cola 
Company 

Shareholder – Report 
on congruency of 
political spending with 
the company values 
and priorities. 

For A vote for this proposal is warranted, as a report on the congruence of the 
company’s political expenditures with its stated values would enable 
shareholders to have a more comprehensive understanding of how the 
company oversees and manages risks related to its political spending.  

Sonoco 
Products 

Shareholder – Reduce 
ownership threshold 
for shareholders to call 
special meeting 

For A vote for this proposal is warranted as the proposed 10 percent ownership 
threshold for shareholders to call for a special meeting would enhance 
shareholders ability to make use of the right, and the likelihood of abuse of the 
right would remain small. 

P
age 31



 Appendix 2 

Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
Johnson & 
Johnson 

Shareholder – Report 
on Government 
financial support and 
equitable access to 
Covid-19 products. 

For A vote for this proposal is warranted, as reporting on the impact of public 
funding on the company’s pricing and access plans would allow shareholders to 
better assess the company’s management of related risks throughout the 
expected lifetime of the vaccine. 

Kellogg 
Company 

Shareholder – Report 
on median 
gender/racial pay gap. 

For A vote for this proposal is warranted, as shareholders would benefit from 
additional information allowing them to better measure the progress of the 
company’s diversity and inclusion initiatives and its management of related 
risks. 

Stef Management – 
Approve Auditors’ 
special report on 
related-party 
transactions 

Against The proposal warrants a vote against because the company failed to provide 
adequate information and compelling rationale with respect to consulting 
services. It is therefore impossible to ascertain that the continuation of these 
agreements are in the shareholders interests. 

Kimberly-
Clarke 
Corporation 

Management – Ratify 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
as auditors 

Against A vote against is warranted, since the auditor tenure exceeds 10 years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 32



 Appendix 2 

Baillie Gifford – Long-Term Global Growth (global equities) (ACCESS) 
 
Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
Tesla Inc Shareholder – 

Resolution - Social 
For We supported the resolution requesting additional disclosure on their efforts to 

address harassment and discrimination in the workplace. We believe 
quantitative disclosure would help us understand and monitor the company’s 
efforts. 

Tesla Inc Shareholder - Social For We supported the resolution requesting a report on the impact of using 
mandatory arbitration in line with our voting approach in 2020 and 2021. We 
believe increased transparency would help us better understand the 
company’s use of the practice and any implications for workplace practices 
and culture. 

Tesla Inc Shareholder - Climate Against We opposed a shareholder resolution requesting a report on how the 
company’s corporate lobbying is aligned with the Paris climate agreement. 
Given Tesla’s core mission is to accelerate the world’s transition to 
sustainable energy and its business strategy is alignment with the Paris 
agreement we believe additional disclosures would be burdensome with no 
real benefit for shareholders. 

Spotify 
Technology SA 

Management – 
Amendment of share 
capital 

Against We opposed the resolution which sought authority to issue equity because the 
potential dilution levels are not in the interests of shareholders. 

CATL 'A' - 
Stock Connect 

Management – Articles 
of Association 

Abstain We abstained on two resolutions to approve amendments to the articles of 
association due to a significant increase in the size of political donations not 
subject to shareholder approval. 

CATL 'A' - 
Stock Connect 

Shareholder - 
Governance 

For We supported a shareholder resolution put forward by the controlling 
shareholder relating to a profit distribution plan. The resolution received full 
support from the board and we were comfortable with the proposed terms. 

PDD Holdings 
Inc 

Management – Elect 
Directors 

Against We opposed the election of the director who is the chair of the nomination 
committee because the board remains entirely male. We have engaged 
previously with the company on this issue and explained that we expect the 
gender diversity of the board to improve by this annual general meeting.We 

P
age 33



 Appendix 2 

Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
believe that diversity would bring different perspectives to the board which is 
ultimately important for the long-term prospects of the company. 

Netflix Inc Shareholder - Social For We supported a shareholder resolution requesting the company adopt and 
disclose a freedom of association and collective bargaining policy. Labour 
issues are identified as a material risk to the company’s financial statements 
and we believe that shareholders would benefit from greater understanding of 
Netflix’s policy and approach to this matter. It’s lack of policy lags other large 
technology companies and may open it up to increased risk, particularly in 
light of past and ongoing controversies. 

Zoom Management - 
Remuneration 

Against We opposed executive remuneration due to concerns over the inappropriate 
use of discretion. We believe that the large off-cycle payments made to the 
executives during the year do not reflect the experience of long-term 
shareholders, nor underpin future long-term performance due to the absence 
of performance targets attached. 

Amazon.com Shareholder - 
Environmental 

For We supported a shareholder resolution requesting a report on plastic use. 
Plastic pollution poses financial, operational and reputational risks to the 
company. While we continue to believe that Amazon are making progress we 
think more could be done particularly with the regards to how they influence 
their manufacturers to reduce their usage. We also believe that the company 
lags peers who disclose total plastic use and reduction targets. Better 
addressing this issue will help position the company for the long term future 
growth. 

Amazon.com Shareholder - Social Against We opposed a shareholder resolution requesting reporting on takedown 
requests by the government of the United States. Instead we supported a 
shareholder resolution requesting disclosure of takedown requests more 
generally. 

Moderna Inc Shareholder – Social Against We opposed the proposal to commission a third party report into the feasibility 
of transferring the IP of Moderna’s Covid-19 vaccine to companies in low and 
middle income countries. This is a re-file of the same proposal which was on 
the agenda last year and which we opposed. Little has changed to warrant us 
changing our view on this. There is little to suggest that there is a supply issue 

P
age 34



 Appendix 2 

Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
in low and middle income countries. Should Moderna license more of its IP, 
we are confident it would have limited effect on addressing today’s Covid 
vaccine inequalities and it also comes with substantial risks which, we believe, 
the company has considered appropriately. 

 

P
age 35



 Appendix 2 

Baillie Gifford – Global Alpha (global equities) (ACCESS) 
 
Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
Richemont Management – Non-

executive 
Remuneration 

Against We opposed a resolution to approve variable remuneration for the executive 
committee due to a lack of clarity and clear alignment with shareholder 
interests. 

Snowflake Inc Management – Elect 
directors 

For Access guidelines recommend we oppose the election of a joint chair/CEO. 
We are comfortable with the current chair/CEO and therefore supported their 
election. 

Richemont Shareholder - 
Governance 

Against We opposed two shareholder resolutions to appoint a representative of 
category A shares due to a lack of compelling justification for the candidate 
nominated by the proponent. Instead, we chose to support the candidate 
proposed by management. 

Spotify Management – 
Amendment of share 
capital 

Against We opposed the resolution which sought authority to issue equity because the 
potential dilution levels are not in the interests of shareholders. 

Analog 
Devices 

Management – 
Appoint/Pay auditors 

For Access guidelines recommended opposing as the tenure of the audit firm is 
over ten years. We believe auditor tenure is an important issue, however do 
not require a change in auditor after ten years. We instead focus on if the 
company has a process in place to tender for a new auditor over a suitable 
timeframe. 

Mastercard Shareholder - Social Against We opposed a shareholder resolution requesting a report on board oversight 
of discrimination. We are satisfied with the company’s efforts and disclosures 
on diversity and inclusion. We do not believe that any cause for concern that 
its practices are discriminatory. 

CBRE Group 
inc 

Shareholder - Social Against We opposed a shareholder resolution calling for increased stock ownership 
retention for senior executive, as the company already has a minimum stock 
ownership guidelines in place 

Floor & Décor 
Holdings 

Management -
Incentive Plan 

For Access guidelines recommend opposing renumeration where the 
performance period is less than five years. We are comfortable with the 
renumeration arrangements at the company and therefore supported. 

  

P
age 36



 Appendix 2 

Dodge & Cox – Global Stock Fund (global equities) 
 
Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
FedEx 
Corporation 

Management -Ratify 
Ernst & Young LLP as 
Auditors 

Against A vote against is warranted given the current auditors tenure exceeds 10 
years. 

XP Inc Management – 
Approve changes in 
authorised share 
capital 

Against Dodge & Cox is generally opposed to dual-class capitalisation structures 
that provide disparate voting rights to different groups of shareholders with 
similar economic investments. The proposal perpetuates the dual class 
shareholder structure with different voting rights which is not in the best 
interests of the minority shareholders. Dodge & Cox currently holds class A 
shares (limited voting shares) and is limited in its purchasing power by the 
amount of class A shares in the market. The proposal seeks to repurpose 
some class A shares to class B shares which would then limit Dodge & 
Cox’s purchasing power even further. Support is not warranted. 

Credit Suisse 
Group AG 

Management – 
Additional voting 
instructions – Board of 
Directors proposals 
(voting) 

Against Dodge & Cox will typically vote against other business proposals in non US 
markets, as it varies by market what can legally be covered under the other 
business and it cannot be known, when voting by proxy, whether the items 
raised under any other business would be beneficial to shareholders. 

Cisco Systems 
Inc 

Shareholder – Report 
on tax transparency 
set forth in the global 
reporting initiatives tax 
standard. 

Against Dodge and Cox generally support managements decisions regarding a 
company’s business operations. Dodge and Cox will review proposals 
regarding social and environmental issues on a case by case basis and will 
consider supporting proposals that address material issues that it believes 
will protect and/or enhance the long term value of the company. For 
example shareholder proposals requesting information or data that enables 
us to better assess material financial risks to the company around social and 
environmental issues such as human capital and energy transition. 

Alibaba Management – Ratify 
Price Waterhouse as 
auditors 

Against A vote against is warranted given the current auditors tenure exceeds 10 
years. 

P
age 37



 Appendix 2 

Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
Proseus NV Management – Re-

elect JDT Stofberg as 
Non-Executive 
Director 

Against A vote Against the election of non-executive director is warranted since the 
nominee, who is over 70, and is not required to stand for re-election each 
year. 

J.D.com Inc Management – Amend 
memorandum of 
association and 
articles of association 

Against Allows for virtual only meetings without providing rationale 

Mitsubishi 
Electric Corp 

Management – Elect 
Director Kawagoishi, 
Tadashi 

Against Vote against the election of an executive director who is also a member of 
the audit committee. 

Novartis AG Management – 
Transaction other 

Against Dodge and Cox will typically vote against other business proposals in non-us 
markets as it varies by market what can legally be covered under other 
business and it cannot be known, when by proxy voting, whether the items 
raised would be beneficial to shareholders. 

 
 
 
 
  

P
age 38



 Appendix 2 

UBS-AM – passive equities 
 
Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
CVS Health 
Corporation 

Shareholder – Adopt a 
paid sick leave policy 

For Request for additional reporting is reasonable 

Deutsche 
Wohnen SE 

Shareholder – Appoint 
Jochen Jahn as Special 
Auditor in connection 
with Loan Agreement 
with Vonovia SE 

For The special audits would investigate whether the granting of a loan to the 
company’s majority shareholder constitutes an unlawful financial aid and 
whether it was in the best interests of the company. While there is currently 
no clear an irrefutable evidence of wrongdoing by members of the 
management and supervisory boards in connection with the loan 
agreement, the conduct of the management and supervisory boards in the 
context of Vonovia’s takeover raises legitimate concerns about potential 
conflicts of interest and a breach of fiduciary responsibilities 

Alphabet Inc Shareholder - Report on 
framework to assess 
company lobbying 
alignment with climate 
goals  

For In general, we will support shareholder proposals seeking greater 
transparency on company lobbying except where covered by existing 
legislation and where the company meets such regulation, unless there is 
direct reputational risk. 

Alphabet Inc Shareholder – Report on 
risks doing business in 
countries with significant 
Human Rights concerns. 

For Request for additional reporting is reasonable. 

Amazon.com Management – Advisory 
vote to ratify named 
executive officers’ 
compensation 

Against Executive pay is not aligned with performance, excessive pay quantum. 

AstraZeneca 
PLC 

Management – Authorise 
issue of Equity without 
pre-emptive rights 

Against Share issuances without pre-emptive rights exceeding 10% of issued share 
capital are deemed overly dilutive 

Wells Fargo & 
Company 

Shareholder – Report on 
Climate Transition Plan 
Describing efforts to 

For We will support proposals that seek to promote greater disclosure and 
transparency in corporate environmental policies as long as: a) the issues 
are not already effectively dealt with through legislation or regulation; b) the 

P
age 39



 Appendix 2 

Stock Proposal Vote Rationale 
align financing activities 
with GHG targets 

company has not already responded in a sufficient manner; and c) the 
proposal is not unduly burdensome or overly prescriptive. 

Walmart Inc Management – Elect 
Director Thomas W. 
Horton 

Against Lack of gender diversity 

United Parcel 
Service Inc 

Shareholder – Report on 
Just Transition 

For The proposal would further enable shareholders to determine the strength 
of the company policy, strategy and actions in regards to climate change. 

Henderson 
Land 
Development 
Company Ltd 

Management – Elect Lee 
Ka Shing as Director 

Against Board not sufficiently independent. Unsupportive of Executives on the 
remuneration committee. Executive Director and the nomination committee 
lacks sufficient independence. 

 
 P

age 40



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report  
 
Decision Maker: Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-Committee 

Date: 12 September 2023 

Title: Sustainable Investments 

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations 

Contact name: Andrew Boutflower 

Tel:    0370 779 6896 Email: andrew.boutflower@hants.gov.uk 
 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to confirm the Pension Fund’s current 
sustainable investments in its alternative investment portfolios and agree 
targets for the investment managers to increase these allocations. 

Recommendations 

2. That the sub-committee notes that: 

• Of the Pension Fund’s combined 22.5% allocation to alternative 
investments, 3.5% is currently invested in sustainable investments 
(nearly £313m as at 31 March 2023).  

• Of this 0.6% (£52m as at 31 March 2023) are investments in the UK, 
which would count as investment in the Levelling-Up agenda.  

• The Pension Fund’s alternative investment managers have confirmed 
that they could grow the sustainable investments in their portfolios to a 
combined 7.0% of the total Pension Fund by 2026. 

3. That the RI sub-committee recommends to the Pension Fund Panel and 
Board that it agrees the aims set out in this report for the Fund’s three 
alternative investment portfolio to increase their allocations to sustainable 
investments as follows by 2026: 

• Private Equity - 20% 
• Infrastructure – 50% 
• Private Debt – 10%. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 10



Sustainable Investments 

4. The United Nations (UNs) sustainable development goals were born at the 
Conference on Sustainable Development in Rio de Janeiro in 2012. They 
were intended as a set of universal goals to meet the world’s urgent 
environmental, political and economic challenges. By 2015 there was 
agreement on the 17 individual goals that were aimed to end extreme 
poverty, reduce inequality and protect the planet by 2030.  

 

5. Investment can help to achieve the sustainable development goals and a 
number of standards have been brought in to help investors identify if their 
investments are meeting sustainable goals. The most established standards 
are from the European Commission and are summarised as follows: 

• Article 6: funds without a sustainability scope  

• Article 8: funds that promote environmental or social characteristics  

• Article 9: funds that have sustainable investment as their objective  

6. The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) is also developing its own standards, 
which follow the same 3 level framework, which is outlined below. These 
standards are not yet finalised, which demonstrates that while regulators are 
keen to ensure that investment managers are transparent and honest on the 
sustainability of investments (they are not greenwashing) the regulation in this 
area is still in its infancy. 

 
 

Page 42



 

7. The Pension Fund is interpreting that investments classified as either Article 8 
or 9, or Sustainable Improvers or Impact, will be reported as sustainable. 

Sustainability and alternative investments 

8. The Pension Fund’s focus for Responsible Investment (RI) to date has been 
on climate change, which reflects the consultation response it received from 
scheme members – 55% of scheme members identified environmental 
factors as the most important Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
factor for investments. However, addressing climate change is only one of the 
17 UN Sustainability Goals. 

9. To date is has been difficult to quantify the Pension Fund’s alternative 
investments (private equity, private debt and infrastructure) contribution to 
managing climate change because the availability of carbon data for these 
types of investments is lagging listed investments, although this is slowly 
improving. However due to their ability to invest in early stage and smaller 
enterprises, as well as real assets, alternative investments are ideally suited 
to make sustainable investments. This is particularly true for the Pension 
Fund’s infrastructure portfolio, but Private Equity and Debt are making a 
contribution which can be increased over time. 

Hampshire’s current sustainable alternative investments 

10. The Pension Fund’s alternative investment managers (Aberdeen - private 
equity, JP Morgan - private debt and GCM Grosvenor - infrastructure) have 
been asked to identify the investments in their current portfolios that would 
meet sustainability objectives. The investment managers were then asked 

Page 43



what proportion of sustainable investments they could get to in their portfolios 
by 2025/26 without compromising their ability to meet Hampshire investment 
targets. Its should be noted the three investment managers have different 
levels of scope to increase sustainable investments depending on the overall 
amount of new commitments they are due to make. GCM and Aberdeen have 
greater scope as their portfolios are still below their strategic allocations 
and/or have mature investments that are returning higher levels of capital that 
can be reinvested in new investments. JP Morgan have less scope as their 
portfolio is less mature and will be making less new commitments in the 
coming years. 

11. The investment managers have been asked to identify the investments that 
would meet the criteria for Article 8 or 9 or equivalent. It should be noted that 
not all of these investments will have this accreditation as sustainable 
investments. In particular, investments that were established and raised 
capital prior to the finalisation of these sustainable investment standards, are 
unlikely to go back and seek the accreditation. 

12. Private Equity – Aberdeen have reported that 7.0% of the current portfolio is 
invested in sustainable investments (based on commitment score). Aberdeen 
report that the portfolio could reach a 20% sustainable target by 2026, whilst 
still targeting returns within the Hampshire performance objective. 

13. Infrastructure – GCM Grosvenor have reported that 33.4% of the current 
portfolio is invested in sustainable investments (based on commitment 
values). GCM report that the portfolio could reach a 50% sustainable target 
by 2026, whilst still targeting returns within the Hampshire performance 
objective. 

Case study – Too Good to Go (co-investment)
The world’s largest e-commerce marketplace for surplus food, which abrdn see 
as a highly credible sustainability-focused investment opportunity. Aldi UK have 
recently started working with Too Good to Go (following the successful 
collaboration with Aldi Germany).

Case study – Pioneer Point Partners (primary fund)
Pioneer Infrastructure Partners I is a €575 million fund seeking control equity 
transactions in lower middle market infrastructure in Western Europe.
The Fund’s primary investment focus is on investments that seek to 
decarbonise and modernise the energy sector as well as promote the efficient 
utilisation and re-use of various resources in the economy. Investments to 
date have included: a diversified renewables platform in Spain, an 
experienced developer and operator of biogas plants in Northern Ireland and 
the Republic of Ireland, and a processor of fish waste to produce high value, 
sustainable end-products for the bioenergy in Norway.

Page 44



14. Private Debt – JP Morgan have reported that 5% of the current portfolio is 
invested in sustainable investments (based on commitment values). JP 
Morgan report that the portfolio could reach a 10% sustainable target by 
2026, whilst still targeting returns within the Hampshire performance 
objective. 
 

Levelling-Up and Local Investment 

15. In a Levelling-Up White Paper (LUWP) published in February 2022 the 
Government set out its ambitions that LGPS funds have 5% of their assets 
invested in projects that support the local area. Recently this has been 
followed-up by a policy consultation on the Next Steps on Investment 
published on 11 July 2023, which included confirmation of ‘an ambition in the 
LUWP for LGPS funds to invest up to 5% of their assets under management 
in projects which support local areas’. 

16. The consultation further confirms Levelling-Up has ‘12 medium-term levelling 
up missions (living standards, research and development, transport, digital 
connectivity, education, skills, health, well-being, pride in place, housing, 
crime and local leadership)’ and an investment would meet the levelling up 
requirement if: 

• it makes a measurable contribution to one of the levelling up missions 
set out in the LUWP; and 

• it supports any local area within the United Kingdom. 

17. Of the amounts identified as sustainable investments in each alternative 
investment portfolio above, the following amounts are invested in the UK and 
would also count towards the Levelling-Up agenda: 

• Private Equity 0.4% 

• Infrastructure 20% 

• Private Debt 0.3% 

18. In addition there are £40m of investments in the Pension Fund’s UK property 
portfolio, which is not the subject of this paper, in affordable housing and 
assisted living housing that fits well with the objectives Levelling up. 

 

Case study – CVI Clean Energy Fund, (primary fund)
The fund’s objective is climate risk mitigation through positive net green-house 
gas emissions. These, along many other ESG KPIs are tracked and monitored 
on a regular basis, and then reported to our investors.

Page 45



 

Conclusion and Recommendation 

19. The Pension Fund’s investment strategy is to invest in well diversified 
portfolios of global alternative investments. By being diversified these 
portfolios will never fully invest in sustainable investments, but the Pension 
Fund’s investment managers have already identified that sustainable 
investments can be part of a diversified portfolio that meets the Pension 
Fund’s objectives. 

20. Of the Pension Fund’s combined 22.5% allocation to alternative investments 
3.5% is currently invested in sustainable investments (£313m as at 31 March 
2023). This figure could be further increased through the allocation to timber 
that was provisionally added to the Pension Fund’s Investment Strategy. 

Case studies

Private Equity - Eagle Genomics based in Cambridge is revolutionising how 
scientists conduct life sciences research and is bridging the gap between data 
and new insights in a rapid, systematic and traceable way. It puts data science 
at the fingertips of biologists and scientists to drastically reduce time and cost 
of research, enabling customers to achieve radical productivity improvements 
and true data driven discovery. Eagle is working with global leading ‘fast-
moving consumer goods’ (FMCG) and agriculture businesses to support them 
in identifying positive attributes from bacteria and other ingredients, which can 
then support product development to give important health benefits both to end 
customers and also to livestock. Eagle has entered into a partnership with 
International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) to 
accelerate microbiome-based solutions to drive global climate resilience, 
sustainable food systems and improved nutrition.

Private Debt – loan to a U.K. based energy company offering residential solar 
and battery storage solutions along with Artificial Intelligence capabilities to 
optimise self-consumption together with exporting and importing to and from 
the grid in the U.K.

Infrastructure - Viridor Energy is the largest Energy from Waste portfolio in 
the UK with 11 operational facilities across England, Scotland and Wales. The 
company accepts waste from local municipalities and incinerates it to create 
renewable power and heat. This enables diversion of waste away from landfills 
thereby lowering carbon emissions by more than 30%. Viridor’s ESG strategy 
is to achieve Net Zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2040. Viridor’s strategy 
includes rolling out plastic extraction concept in order to reduce anthropogenic 
emissions (Materials derived from production involving fossil fuel, most 
commonly plastics) and removal of at least 1.6 mt of CO2e per annum by 2040 
(equivalent to removing ~800 thousand cars from UK roads).

Page 46



21. The Fund’s sustainable investments include 0.6% (£52m as at 31 March 
2023) of investments in the UK, which would count as investment in the 
Levelling-Up agenda, plus a further £40m in the Fund’s UK property portfolio.  

22. The Pension Fund’s alternative investment managers have confirmed that 
they could grow the sustainable investments in their portfolios to a combined 
7% of the total Pension Fund by 2026. This is an initial step for the Fund for 
the first time establishing a target for sustainable alternative investments. 
Beyond 2026 the target can be revisited with the investment managers in the 
expectation of further increases. 

23. It is recommended that the RI sub-committee recommends to the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board that it agrees the aims set out in this report for the 
Fund’s three alternative investment portfolio to increase their allocations to 
sustainable investments. 

Climate Change Impact Assessments  

24. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.  

25. The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises 
that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their 
own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower 
carbon economy. Therefore, the Pension Fund recognises the risk that ESG 
factors, including the impact of climate change, can materially reduce long-
term returns. The Pension Fund has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring 
that its investment managers are suitably considering the impact and 
contribution to climate change in their investment decisions and acting as a 
good steward to encourage these companies to play their part in reducing 
climate change. This is explained further in the Pension Fund’s RI policy 
Responsible Investment | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk). 

26. This paper provides analysis of the Pension Fund’s alternative investments 
allocated to sustainable investments, which includes investments contributing 
to tackling climate change, and proposals for increasing this allocation.

Page 47

https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-investment


Integral Appendix A 
 

 
 

 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

no 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

no 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

no 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

no 

 
OR 

 
This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
report because of the ongoing management of the Hampshire Pension Fund. 

 
 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

 
 

Page 48



Integral Appendix B 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 

sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic. 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the 
proposals in this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme 
members. 

 
 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for assistance.

	5 Minutes
	8 Scheme Member Communications
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to update the sub-committee on communication to and from scheme members since its last meeting in March 2023.
	Recommendations
	2.	That the sub-committee note the communication from scheme members on Responsible Investment (RI).
	Executive Summary
	3.	The sub-committee’s terms of reference include the actions:
		‘to engage directly and indirectly with scheme members and employers to hear representations concerning Environmental, Social or Governance (ESG) issues as appropriate’,
		‘to report annually on the Pension Fund's Responsible Investment to demonstrate progress to the Pension Fund's stakeholders’.
	4.	Since the consultation on amendments to the Fund’s RI policy, the results of which were reported to the Pension Fund Panel and Board in July 2022, the trend of a reduction in scheme member communication on RI has continued. Since the sub-committees last meeting a County Councillor (not a member of the Pension Fund Panel and Board) received an email from a resident advocating that the Pension Fund disinvests from fossil fuels. A response was provided that reiterated the Fund’s RI policy of why it believes it is better to remain invested and engaged with fossil fuel companies where investment managers have selected them in the Fund’s investment portfolios.
	5.	The Assistant Director received an email from a scheme member highlighting recent research published by The Carbon Tracker Initiative. The research warned that pension funds are risking their investments by under-estimating the impact of global warming in scenario analysis commissioned from investment consultants and actuaries.
	6.	As part of the Taskforce for Climate Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) reporting which is proposed to be mandatory for LGPS pension funds, but already adopted by Hampshire, scenario analysis of climate risk is required. Hampshire’s most recent TCFD report included climate scenario analysis from the Pension Fund’s Actuary as part of the 2022 Actuarial Valuation. The analysis showed the best long-term outcome for the Pension Fund was an orderly transition to a low carbon economy (an implied temperature rise of +1.3-2⁰C), with the worst outcome being (no transition (an implied temperature rise of +4⁰C by 2100). This is consistent with the Pension Fund’s support for the objectives of the Paris Agreement; keeping a global temperature rise this century to well below 2⁰C (taken to be 1.5⁰C) and its commitment to the aim for its investments to have net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 at the latest.
	Climate Change Impact Assessments
	7.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	8.	The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower carbon economy. Therefore, the Pension Fund recognises the risk that ESG factors, including the impact of climate change, can materially reduce long-term returns. The Pension Fund has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring that its investment managers are suitably considering the impact and contribution to climate change in their investment decisions and acting as a good steward to encourage these companies to play their part in reducing climate change. This is explained further in the Pension Fund’s RI policy Responsible Investment | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk).
	9.	This paper captures the views of scheme members that have been shared with the Pension Fund on RI issues, including the risks and impacts of Climate Change, so that the sub-committee can consider these views in their future decision making.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic.
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the proposals in this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme members.



	9 Stewardship Highlight Report
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	This report provides information regarding the Pension Fund’s investment managers’ stewardship of the Pension Fund’s assets, their engagement with the management of the companies the Pension Fund invests in, including how the investment managers have voted on behalf of the Fund during the period October 2022 to June 2023.

	Recommendations
	2.	That the Pension Fund Responsible Investment Sub-Committee notes how the Pension Fund’s investment managers have voted in the Fund’s portfolios and engaged with the management of these companies as highlighted in this report.

	Executive Summary
	3.	The Pension Fund is a signatory to the UN Principles for Responsible Investment and the UK Stewardship Code 2020 and as such recognises its role of promoting best practice in stewardship, which is considered to be consistent with seeking long term investment returns.  As a Pension Fund whose investments are externally managed, much of the day-to-day responsibility for implementing stewardship on behalf of the Fund is delegated to the Fund’s investment managers, including engagement and casting shareholder votes for its equity investments, and the expectations of the investment managers are set out in the Fund’s Responsible Investment Policy as part of the Investment Strategy Statement.
	4.	The Fund recognises that there are different expectations for its investment managers in terms of how they engage with companies, but as a minimum all are expected to engage with invested companies on areas of concern related to environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues and to also exercise voting rights particularly with regard to ESG factors, in a manner that will most favourably impact the economic value of the investments.  In addition, the Fund’s active investment managers are required to pro-actively consider how all relevant factors, including ESG factors, will influence the long-term value of each investment.
	5.	As investors in common stock (equities), the Pension Fund (via the pooled funds it invests in) will have certain rights to vote on how the company it invests in is run.  These include being able to vote in elections to the board of directors and on proposed operational alterations, such as shifts of corporate aims, as well as the right to vote on other matters such as renumeration policies and the appointment of auditors.  In addition to these items, for which recommendations will be made by company management for shareholders to either agree or oppose, individual shareholders can propose their own subjects for the shareholders to vote on, but they are non-binding on the company’s management in most instances.
	6.	Shareholder votes are an important tool for company engagement alongside more direct communication (such as meetings) with company management. Voting provides an ultimate sanction for shareholders to show their disapproval with how a company is operating.
	7.	How votes are cast by the Pension Fund will be determined by the voting policy, which for Hampshire varies depending on how the equity investment is held:
		Equities directly held directly in the ACCESS pool (Acadian’s Low Volatility portfolio, Baillie Gifford’s Long-term Global Growth and Global Alpha portfolios and Dodge & Cox’s Global Stock Fund portfolio) will be voted in accordance with ACCESS’s voting guidelines, which were agreed by the ACCESS Joint Committee.
		Equities in pooled funds of external investment managers (such as UBS-AM) will be voted in accordance with the investment manager’s voting policy, which applies to all holdings within the fund.
	8.	As a result of the Pension Fund’s policy there is a risk that its investment managers could cast their votes differently for the same shareholder resolution, and examples of these are described in Table 1.  However, the Fund believes its current policy remains the best approach as it enables the Fund’s investment managers to cast votes in line with the portfolio investment strategy that led to holding the stock.
	9.	The Pension Fund publishes its investment manager’s voting reports online:
	https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions/responsible-investment
	10.	The explanations provided by investment managers for their voting and engagements are provided for Members to evaluate the investment managers stewardship and to challenge and follow-up as necessary in future interactions with the investment managers.
	Engagement highlights
	11.	In order for the Responsible Investment (RI) Sub-Committee to scrutinise the engagement activity of the Pension Fund’s investment managers engagement examples are shown in Appendix 1. These examples are a small sample of overall engagements but in the main are focused on investments that the Pension Fund’s consultant – MJ Hudson, highlighted as a high ESG risk. Following feedback from Members and the advice of the Fund’s consultant the questions to investment managers have been structured to focus on the purpose of the engagement and whether or not this was successful.
	12.	Examples are included across the range of the Pension Fund’s assets including equities, credit (multi-asset credit and asset-backed securities) and non-listed investments (private equity and infrastructure). Although the engagement and relationship with the underlying investment will vary depending on the type of investment, it is nonetheless important that regardless of type investment managers are utilising their influence on investee companies on behalf of the Pension Fund.
	13.	Investment managers have to carefully manage their relationships with company management therefore there are instances where to preserve an effective working relationship, the investment managers cannot publicly disclose the full details of their engagement or have asked to anonymise the examples they have provided.
	Voting highlights
	14.	In order for the RI Sub-Committee to scrutinise the voting activity for the Pension Fund’s investments a summary of voting highlights for the period January to June 2023, which are contained in Appendix 2.  The highlight report does not attempt to quantify the number of votes cast by the Fund’s investment managers (which is significant) but focuses on providing examples of the types of issues where investment managers have voted against company management, resolutions of fellow shareholders, or on sensitive or topical issues.
	15.	The majority of votes cast against company management by the Fund’s investment managers cover the following reasons:
		Nominees for company directors who are not sufficiently independent, have too many other outside interests, or who have a history of managing the company and ignoring shareholders’ concerns.
		Remuneration policies where the level of pay is felt to be excessive and/or short-term incentives are more valuable than long-term incentives and do not provide adequate alignment with shareholders' long-term interests.
		The appointment of auditors where the incumbent audit firm has been in place too long or the disclosure of non-audit fees to the company were not clear.
	16.	In all these instances voting against the company management is in line with ACCESS’s policy, which allows for the investment manager to exercise their judgement and to not follow the policy if they can provide a suitable rationale for doing so. The highlight report shows the sorts of instances where Baillie Gifford or Acadian have exercised this discretion and chosen to support the company management on some of these issues, where they believe that there are compensating governance controls in place.
	17.	The review of voting records has highlighted instances where the Pension Fund’s investment managers have voted differently on the same point; examples of these are in Table 1.
	Climate Change Impact Assessments
	18.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	19.	The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower carbon economy. Therefore, the Pension Fund recognises the risk that environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors including the impact of climate change can materially reduce long-term returns. The Pension Fund has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring that its investment managers are suitably considering the impact and contribution to climate change in their investment decisions and acting as a good steward to encourage these companies to play their part in reducing climate change. This is explained further in the Pension Fund’s RI policy InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf (hants.gov.uk).
	20.	This paper addresses how the Pension Fund’s investment managers have considered ESG factors including the risk and impact of Climate Change have been considered in their stewardship of the Pension Fund’s investments.


	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the proposals in this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme members.



	10 Sustainable Investments
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to confirm the Pension Fund’s current sustainable investments in its alternative investment portfolios and agree targets for the investment managers to increase these allocations.
	Recommendations
	2.	That the sub-committee notes that:
		Of the Pension Fund’s combined 22.5% allocation to alternative investments, 3.5% is currently invested in sustainable investments (nearly £313m as at 31 March 2023).
		Of this 0.6% (£52m as at 31 March 2023) are investments in the UK, which would count as investment in the Levelling-Up agenda.
		The Pension Fund’s alternative investment managers have confirmed that they could grow the sustainable investments in their portfolios to a combined 7.0% of the total Pension Fund by 2026.

	3.	That the RI sub-committee recommends to the Pension Fund Panel and Board that it agrees the aims set out in this report for the Fund’s three alternative investment portfolio to increase their allocations to sustainable investments as follows by 2026:
		Private Equity - 20%
		Infrastructure – 50%
		Private Debt – 10%.

	Sustainable Investments
	4.	The United Nations (UNs) sustainable development goals were born at the Conference on Sustainable Development in Rio de Janeiro in 2012. They were intended as a set of universal goals to meet the world’s urgent environmental, political and economic challenges. By 2015 there was agreement on the 17 individual goals that were aimed to end extreme poverty, reduce inequality and protect the planet by 2030.
	5.	Investment can help to achieve the sustainable development goals and a number of standards have been brought in to help investors identify if their investments are meeting sustainable goals. The most established standards are from the European Commission and are summarised as follows:
		Article 6: funds without a sustainability scope
		Article 8: funds that promote environmental or social characteristics
		Article 9: funds that have sustainable investment as their objective

	6.	The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) is also developing its own standards, which follow the same 3 level framework, which is outlined below. These standards are not yet finalised, which demonstrates that while regulators are keen to ensure that investment managers are transparent and honest on the sustainability of investments (they are not greenwashing) the regulation in this area is still in its infancy.
	7.	The Pension Fund is interpreting that investments classified as either Article 8 or 9, or Sustainable Improvers or Impact, will be reported as sustainable.
	Sustainability and alternative investments
	8.	The Pension Fund’s focus for Responsible Investment (RI) to date has been on climate change, which reflects the consultation response it received from scheme members – 55% of scheme members identified environmental factors as the most important Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factor for investments. However, addressing climate change is only one of the 17 UN Sustainability Goals.
	9.	To date is has been difficult to quantify the Pension Fund’s alternative investments (private equity, private debt and infrastructure) contribution to managing climate change because the availability of carbon data for these types of investments is lagging listed investments, although this is slowly improving. However due to their ability to invest in early stage and smaller enterprises, as well as real assets, alternative investments are ideally suited to make sustainable investments. This is particularly true for the Pension Fund’s infrastructure portfolio, but Private Equity and Debt are making a contribution which can be increased over time.
	Hampshire’s current sustainable alternative investments
	10.	The Pension Fund’s alternative investment managers (Aberdeen - private equity, JP Morgan - private debt and GCM Grosvenor - infrastructure) have been asked to identify the investments in their current portfolios that would meet sustainability objectives. The investment managers were then asked what proportion of sustainable investments they could get to in their portfolios by 2025/26 without compromising their ability to meet Hampshire investment targets. Its should be noted the three investment managers have different levels of scope to increase sustainable investments depending on the overall amount of new commitments they are due to make. GCM and Aberdeen have greater scope as their portfolios are still below their strategic allocations and/or have mature investments that are returning higher levels of capital that can be reinvested in new investments. JP Morgan have less scope as their portfolio is less mature and will be making less new commitments in the coming years.
	11.	The investment managers have been asked to identify the investments that would meet the criteria for Article 8 or 9 or equivalent. It should be noted that not all of these investments will have this accreditation as sustainable investments. In particular, investments that were established and raised capital prior to the finalisation of these sustainable investment standards, are unlikely to go back and seek the accreditation.
	12.	Private Equity – Aberdeen have reported that 7.0% of the current portfolio is invested in sustainable investments (based on commitment score). Aberdeen report that the portfolio could reach a 20% sustainable target by 2026, whilst still targeting returns within the Hampshire performance objective.
	13.	Infrastructure – GCM Grosvenor have reported that 33.4% of the current portfolio is invested in sustainable investments (based on commitment values). GCM report that the portfolio could reach a 50% sustainable target by 2026, whilst still targeting returns within the Hampshire performance objective.
	14.	Private Debt – JP Morgan have reported that 5% of the current portfolio is invested in sustainable investments (based on commitment values). JP Morgan report that the portfolio could reach a 10% sustainable target by 2026, whilst still targeting returns within the Hampshire performance objective.
	Levelling-Up and Local Investment
	15.	In a Levelling-Up White Paper (LUWP) published in February 2022 the Government set out its ambitions that LGPS funds have 5% of their assets invested in projects that support the local area. Recently this has been followed-up by a policy consultation on the Next Steps on Investment published on 11 July 2023, which included confirmation of ‘an ambition in the LUWP for LGPS funds to invest up to 5% of their assets under management in projects which support local areas’.
	16.	The consultation further confirms Levelling-Up has ‘12 medium-term levelling up missions (living standards, research and development, transport, digital connectivity, education, skills, health, well-being, pride in place, housing, crime and local leadership)’ and an investment would meet the levelling up requirement if:
		it makes a measurable contribution to one of the levelling up missions set out in the LUWP; and
		it supports any local area within the United Kingdom.

	17.	Of the amounts identified as sustainable investments in each alternative investment portfolio above, the following amounts are invested in the UK and would also count towards the Levelling-Up agenda:
		Private Equity 0.4%
		Infrastructure 20%
		Private Debt 0.3%

	18.	In addition there are £40m of investments in the Pension Fund’s UK property portfolio, which is not the subject of this paper, in affordable housing and assisted living housing that fits well with the objectives Levelling up.
	Conclusion and Recommendation
	19.	The Pension Fund’s investment strategy is to invest in well diversified portfolios of global alternative investments. By being diversified these portfolios will never fully invest in sustainable investments, but the Pension Fund’s investment managers have already identified that sustainable investments can be part of a diversified portfolio that meets the Pension Fund’s objectives.
	20.	Of the Pension Fund’s combined 22.5% allocation to alternative investments 3.5% is currently invested in sustainable investments (£313m as at 31 March 2023). This figure could be further increased through the allocation to timber that was provisionally added to the Pension Fund’s Investment Strategy.
	21.	The Fund’s sustainable investments include 0.6% (£52m as at 31 March 2023) of investments in the UK, which would count as investment in the Levelling-Up agenda, plus a further £40m in the Fund’s UK property portfolio.
	22.	The Pension Fund’s alternative investment managers have confirmed that they could grow the sustainable investments in their portfolios to a combined 7% of the total Pension Fund by 2026. This is an initial step for the Fund for the first time establishing a target for sustainable alternative investments. Beyond 2026 the target can be revisited with the investment managers in the expectation of further increases.
	23.	It is recommended that the RI sub-committee recommends to the Pension Fund Panel and Board that it agrees the aims set out in this report for the Fund’s three alternative investment portfolio to increase their allocations to sustainable investments.
	Climate Change Impact Assessments
	24.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	25.	The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower carbon economy. Therefore, the Pension Fund recognises the risk that ESG factors, including the impact of climate change, can materially reduce long-term returns. The Pension Fund has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring that its investment managers are suitably considering the impact and contribution to climate change in their investment decisions and acting as a good steward to encourage these companies to play their part in reducing climate change. This is explained further in the Pension Fund’s RI policy Responsible Investment | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk).
	26.	This paper provides analysis of the Pension Fund’s alternative investments allocated to sustainable investments, which includes investments contributing to tackling climate change, and proposals for increasing this allocation.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic.
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the proposals in this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme members.




